

BYLAWS  
OF  
ULSTER COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

ARTICLE I  
THE AGENCY

1. NAME. The name of the agency shall be "Ulster County Industrial Development Agency".
2. CORPORATE SEAL OF AGENCY. The corporate seal of the Agency shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the name of the Agency and the year of its organization. The corporate seal of the Agency may be used by causing it to be impressed directly upon an instrument of writing, upon adhesive substance affixed thereto or by facsimile, whether engraved, printed, stamped or reproduced by the photographic process.
3. OFFICE OF AGENCY. The office of the Agency shall be at 5 Development Court, Kingston, New York, however, the Agency may have such other offices at such other places as the members of the Agency may from time to time designate by resolution.
4. EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS. Except as otherwise provided in these bylaws, instruments and documents of the Agency may be signed or countersigned, executed, verified or acknowledged by such officer or officers or other person or persons as the Agency may designate by resolution.

ARTICLE II  
MEMBERS; OFFICERS OF BOARD AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

1. APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; QUALIFICATIONS THEREOF.

(A) Pursuant to Article 18-a of the General Municipal Law of the State of New York (the "Act"), the members of the Agency (each, a "Member") are appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of, the County Legislature of Ulster County. Each Member must be a resident of Ulster County. A public officer or employee may be appointed as a Member of the Agency without forfeiture of any other public office or employment.

(B) Except for Members who serve as Members by virtue of holding a civil office of the State, the majority of the remaining Members appointed after January 13, 2006 shall be "Independent Members".

(C) For purposes of these bylaws, the term "Independent Member" means a Member one who: (1) is not, and in the past two years has not been, employed by the Agency (or an "Affiliate" of the Agency) in an executive capacity; (2) is not, and in the past two years has not been, employed by an entity that received remuneration valued at more than \$15,000 for goods and services provided to the Agency or received any other form of financial assistance valued at more than \$15,000 from the Agency; (3) is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the Agency (or an "Affiliate" of the Agency); and (4) is not, and in the past two years has not been, a lobbyist registered under a state or local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract awards, rate determinations or any other similar actions of the Agency (or an "Affiliate" of the Agency).

(D) For purposes of these bylaws, the term "Affiliate" means a corporate body having substantially the same ownership or control as the Agency.

2. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERS; TRAINING REQUIREMENT. (A) The Members of the Agency constitute the governing body of the Agency (the "Board"), and shall have and shall responsibly exercise all of the powers prescribed by the Act and other applicable law, including but not limited to Chapter 766 of the 2005 Laws of the State of New York (the "PAAA").

(B) The Board shall appoint a Chief Executive Officer and a Chief Financial Officer of the Agency, neither of whom shall be a Member of the Agency.

(C) Every annual financial report of the Agency must be approved by the Board.

(D) The Members of the Agency shall: (1) execute direct oversight of the Chief Executive Officer of the Agency and other senior management of the Agency in the effective and ethical management of the Agency; and (2) understand, review and monitor the implementation of fundamental financial and management controls and operational decisions of the Agency.

(E) The Board shall not, directly or indirectly, including through a subsidiary, extend or maintain credit or arrange for the extension of credit, or renew an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any officer, Member or employee (or equivalent thereof) of the Agency.

(F) Individuals newly appointed to the Board of the Agency must participate in state approved training regarding their legal, fiduciary, financial and ethical responsibilities within one year of appointment to such Board. Existing Members shall participate in such continuing training as may be required to remain informed of best practices, regulatory and statutory changes relating to the effective oversight of the management and financial activities of public authorities and to adhere to the highest standards of responsible governance.

(G) Members of the Agency shall file annual financial disclosure statements with the Ulster County Board of Ethics.

3. OFFICERS, DUTIES, APPOINTMENT AND VACANCIES.

(A) The officers of the Agency shall be a chair, one or more vice chairs, a secretary, a treasurer and one or more assistant secretaries. Any two or more offices, except the office of the chair and secretary, may be held by the same person.

(B) The officers of the Agency shall perform the duties and functions specified in these bylaws and such other duties and functions as may from time to time be authorized by resolution of the Agency or required to effect the statutory purposes of the Agency.

(C) All officers of the Agency except the first chair shall be elected at the annual meeting of the Agency. All officers shall remain in office for one year.

(D) Should any office become vacant, the Agency shall appoint a successor from among its membership at the next regular meeting, and such appointment shall be for the unexpired term of said office.

4. CHAIR. The chair shall preside at all meetings of the Agency. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, the chair shall execute all instruments and documents of the Agency. At each meeting the chair shall submit such recommendations and information as the chair may consider proper concerning the business, affairs and policies of the Agency. The chair shall have the authority, at all times, to execute, on behalf of the Agency, instruments and documents of a ministerial or procedural nature which the chair deems expedient in order to further the statutory purposes of the Agency, provided the execution of such instruments and documents does not contravene any provision of these bylaws or any resolution of the Agency. The chair shall have the authority to solicit, negotiate and authorize, contracts and disbursements (subject to final UCIDA approval for all matters in excess of \$2,500.00) for necessary services including but not limited to legal, accounting, engineering, environmental, and financial analysis.

5. VICE CHAIR. The vice chair shall perform the duties of the chair in the absence or incapacity of the chair; and in case of the resignation or death of the chair, the vice chair shall perform such duties as are imposed on the chair until such time as the Agency shall appoint a new chair.

6. SECRETARY. The secretary shall oversee the records of the Agency, shall act as secretary at the meetings of the Agency and oversee the recording of all votes, keeping a record of the proceedings of the Agency in a journal of proceedings, to be kept for such purposes, and perform all duties incident to the office. The secretary

shall keep in safe custody the corporate seal of the Agency and shall have the power to affix such corporate seal to all instruments and documents authorized to be executed by the Agency. When a facsimile corporate seal is authorized to be used, the secretary shall have the power to approve the manner and fashion of such facsimile and authorize such minor variations as are expedient to implement the process by which such facsimile is created. Such duties may be delegated by vote of the UCIDA to an agent.

7. ASSISTANT SECRETARY. The assistant secretary shall perform the duties of the secretary in the absence or incapacity of the secretary; and in case of the resignation or death of the secretary, the assistant secretary shall perform such duties as are imposed on the secretary until such time as the Agency shall appoint a new secretary.
8. TREASURER. The Treasurer shall have all the ordinary duties and powers of a Treasurer, except that the Treasurer shall not sign checks. The duties of the Treasurer may be delegated by vote of the Agency to an agent.
9. ASSISTANT TREASURER. The Assistant Treasurer of the Agency shall perform the duties of the Treasurer in the absence or incapacity of the Treasurer; and in the case of the resignation or death of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform such duties as are imposed on the Treasurer until such time as the Board shall appoint a new Treasurer.
10. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. (A) The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed by the Board, and shall be the chief executive officer of the Agency.

(B) The Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervision over the administration of the business and affairs of the Agency, subject to the direction of the Board. Whenever possible, the Chief Executive Officer shall attend each meeting of the Board, and shall submit such recommendations and information to the Board as the Chief Executive Officer may consider proper concerning the business, affairs and policies of the Agency.

(C) The Chief Executive Officer shall be charged with the management of all projects of the Agency.

(D) The Chief Executive Officer shall also serve as the Contracting Officer of the Agency, and, as such, be responsible for (1) the disposition of property of the Agency, and (2) the Agency's compliance with the Agency's property use and disposition guidelines.

(E) Every annual financial report of the Agency must be certified in writing by the Chief Executive Officer that based on the Chief Executive Officer's knowledge (1) the information provided therein is accurate, correct and does not contain any untrue statement of material fact; (2) does not omit any material fact

which, if omitted, would cause the financial statements to be misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements are made; and (3) fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Agency as of, and for, the periods presented in the financial statements.

11. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER. (A) The Chief Financial Officer shall be appointed by the Board, and shall be the chief financial officer of the Agency.

(B) The Chief Financial Officer shall have the care and custody of all funds of the Agency and shall deposit the same in the name of the Agency in such bank or banks as the Board may select or, if the Board have not so selected a bank or banks, which the Chief Financial Officer selects.

(C) The Chief Financial Officer shall keep regular books of accounts showing receipts and expenditures, and shall render to the Audit Committee at each regular meeting thereof an account of such transactions and also of the financial condition of the Agency.

(D) The Chief Financial Officer shall give such bond for the faithful performance of his duties as the Agency may determine.

(E) Every annual financial report of the Agency must be certified in writing by the Chief Financial Officer that based on the Chief Financial Officer's knowledge (1) the information provided therein is accurate, correct and does not contain any untrue statement of material fact; (2) does not omit any material fact which, if omitted, would cause the financial statements to be misleading in light of the circumstances under which such statements are made; and (3) fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Agency as of, and for, the periods presented in the financial statements.

12. ADDITIONAL PERSONNEL. The Agency may from time to time employ such personnel as it deems necessary to exercise its statutory powers, duties and functions. The selection and compensation of all personnel shall be determined by the Agency.

### ARTICLE III MEETINGS

1. ANNUAL MEETING. The annual meeting of the Agency shall be held on the second Wednesday of January, at 8:00 a.m. at the regular meeting place of the Agency. In the event such day shall fall on a legal holiday, the annual meeting shall be held on the next succeeding day that is not a legal holiday. At the annual meeting of the Agency, the Agency shall elect officers, appoint professionals and staff, and adopt resolutions addressing such other administrative matters of the Agency that come before the Agency.

2. REGULAR MEETINGS. Regular meetings of the Agency shall be held on the second Wednesday of every month at 8:00 a.m. at such place as from time to time may be determined by resolution of the Agency.
3. SPECIAL MEETINGS. The chair of the Agency may, when he or she deems it desirable, and the chair or the secretary shall, upon the written request of any two members of the Agency, call a special meeting of the Agency for the purpose of transacting any business designated in the call. The call for a special meeting may be delivered to each member of the Agency or may be mailed to the business or home address of each member of the Agency at least two days prior to the date of such special meeting. Waivers of notice may be signed by any members failing to receive a proper notice. At such special meeting no business shall be considered other than as designated in the call, but if all the members of the Agency are present at a special meeting, with or without notice thereof, any and all business may be transacted at such special meeting.
4. QUORUM. At all meetings of the Agency, a majority of the members of the Agency shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of transacting business, provided that a smaller number may meet and adjourn to some other time or until the quorum is obtained.
5. RESOLUTIONS. All resolutions shall be in writing and shall be copied in or attached to a journal of the proceedings of the Agency.
6. VOTING.

(A) The voting on all questions coming before the Agency shall be by roll call, and the yeas and nays shall be entered on the minutes of such meeting, except in the case of appointments when the vote may be by ballot.

(B) Except as otherwise provided by Article IV of these bylaws, all resolutions of the Agency shall be passed by a majority of the members of the Agency present at a meeting, however, no resolution shall be passed unless at least four members of the Agency vote yea thereon.

#### ARTICLE IV COMMITTEES

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE. The Agency shall have an audit committee. The Chair of the audit committee shall be the Treasurer of the Agency. Other members of the audit committee shall be appointed by the Chair. There shall be at least three member of the audit committee including the Chair. The duties and responsibilities of the audit committee are as follows:
  - (A) Review and approve the Agency's financial statements;

- (B) Oversee the Agency's internal controls and compliance systems;
- (C) Appointing, compensating and overseeing outside auditors retained by the authority;
- (D) Resolving disagreements with respect to, and overseeing compliance with accounting policies and principles;
- (E) Reviewing management reports on internal controls and the attestation of such reports by the authority's outside auditors; and
- (F) Investigating compliance with the Agency's policies and/or referring instances of noncompliance to the State Inspector General for investigation.

2. GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE. The Agency shall have a governance committee. The chair of the Agency shall appoint at least three members of the governance committee including the Chair. The duties and responsibilities of the governance committee are as follows:

- (A) Review (at least annually) and regularly update the Agency code of conduct/ethics policy and other written policies regarding conflicts of interest.
- (B) Review (at least annually) and regularly update the Agency's written policies regarding procurement of goods and services and the acquisition of real property or interests therein, including policies related the implementation of Executive Order 127 and the disclosure of persons attempting to influence the Agency's procurement process.
- (C) Review (at least annually) and regularly update the Agency's written policies regarding the disposition of real and personal property.
- (D) Review (at least annually) and regularly the update the Agency's written policies regarding the protection of whistleblowers from retaliation.
- (E) Annually assess the profile of skill sets and experiences of current Agency board members and develop recommendations to the Ulster County Legislature regarding the experience, skills, and qualifications of potential new board members.
- (F) Review (at least annually) and update the mission statement and organizational vision of the Agency.
- (G) Facilitate an annual strategic planning and organizational evaluation to assess the overall performance and effectiveness of the organization.

ARTICLE V  
AMENDMENTS

1. AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS. The bylaws of the Agency may be amended only at a meeting for which at least seven days written notice has been previously given to all members of the Agency.
-